IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NOS: 2007-IA-00029-SCT & 2007-CA-00037

ALFA INSURANCE CORPORATION	APPELLANT
V.	
THOMAS HASSELLE AND SHIRLEY HASSELLE	APPELLEES
BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

ROBERT R. STEPHENSON, ESQ. (MSB No: TOBY J. GAMMILL, ESQ. (MSB WILLIAM)
WILKINS, STEPHENS & TIPTON, P.A.
4735 Old Canton Road
One Lefleur's Square, 39211
P.O. Box 13429
Jackson, MS 39236-3429
Telephone: 601-366-4343
Facsimile: 601-981-7608
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the Chancery Court erred in finding that the Alfa automobile policy provides liability coverage to the defendant, Thomas Hasselle, for claims made against him by his wife, Shirley Hasselle.
- 2. Whether the Chancery Court erred in finding that public policy overrides the clear and unambiguous language in Alfa's automobile policy excluding liability coverage for claims made by family members and named insureds.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

This case involves a coverage question under an automobile liability policy. On July 26, 2005, Thomas Hasselle accidentally struck his wife, Shirley Hasselle, with the automobile he was driving. Alfa Insurance Corporation ("Alfa") insured both Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle for liabilities arising out of their operation of the automobile involved in the accident. The subject insurance policy has an exclusion stating that there is no liability coverage for claims made by any other person covered under the policy or by any family member of a policyholder. Both Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle are named as insureds under the policy. Because Mrs. Hasselle is Mr. Hasselle's wife and because she is covered under the policy, there is no coverage for any claims she may make against her husband.

On December 22, 2005, Alfa filed a joint declaratory judgment action and interpleader against both Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle in the Chancery Court of Pike County, Mississippi. The declaratory judgment action requested that the court declare what liability coverage existed, if any, under the subject policy. The interpleader requested that the court disburse the uninsured motorist liability limits and remaining medical payments limits from the same policy to Mrs. Hasselle. Because Alfa contended that Mr. Hasselle did not have liability coverage under the subject policy, it admitted that he was uninsured and tendered to Mrs. Hasselle the limits of the uninsured motorist coverage. Mrs. Hasselle was entitled to this coverage because she was also a named insured under the same policy, and she was injured by someone with no liability insurance covering her injuries. Alfa thereafter filed a motion for summary judgment requesting that the court find that there is no liability coverage under the policy for claims asserted by Mrs. Hasselle against Mr. Hasselle. The

motion was denied by the chancery court. An agreed order was entered disbursing the med pay limits and uninsured motorist limits to Mrs. Hasselle.

On June 9, 2006, Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle filed a motion to amend their response to the complaint for declaratory judgment. (C.P., p. 92). Although not stated in the motion, the purpose of the amendment was to assert a counter-claim against Alfa alleging a breach of the duty of good faith and other similar counts. On the same date that the defendants filed their motion to amend, they also filed (without leave of court) their amended response which included their counterclaim. (C.P., p. 82). Alfa opposed the motion to amend, but the chancery court granted the motion on June 19, 2006. The defendants did not file the amended response after the chancery court granted their motion.

A trial was held before the chancery court on the declaratory judgment action, alone. During the trial, testimony was taken from Robert Sean Oakley, an adjuster employed by Alfa. At the conclusion of the trial, the chancery court ruled that it is against the state's public policy set out in the financial responsibility statute for an automobile insurer to have an exclusion from liability coverage that applies to a person who can sue an insured. (R., p. 38-39). The chancery court further ruled that Mrs. Hasselle is not excluded from the liability portion of the policy. (R., p. 40). The court delayed the trial of the counterclaim filed by the Hasselles, and this was not presented at the trial.

Alfa thereafter filed a petition for interlocutory appeal with the Mississippi Supreme Court. On February 16, 2007, the Court granted Alfa's petition.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 26, 2005, Thomas Hasselle struck his wife, Shirley Hasselle, with his car, causing injuries to Mrs. Hasselle. Alfa Insurance Corporation issued an automobile insurance policy (the

"policy") to Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle which was in effect at the time of the accident. Mrs. Hasselle has a potential claim against Mr. Hasselle for which he could have liability. The policy has an exclusion which provides that there is no liability coverage for claims made by any other person covered under the policy or claims made by family members of the policyholders. Because Mrs. Hasselle is Mr. Hasselle's wife and is covered under the Policy, there is no coverage for any claim she asserts against her husband.

The policy provides as follows:

COVERAGES

LIABILITY COVERAGE

(a) If this coverage is shown on your declaration, we will pay damages for bodily injury or property damage for which any covered person becomes legally responsible because of a car accident arising out of the ownership, use or maintenance of a covered car or non-owned car.

EXCLUSIONS

We do not provide Liability Coverage for:

(9) Any bodily injury to any covered person.

(C.P., pp. 7-8; 41-42).

The policy provides the following definitions applicable to the liability coverage in this case.

Throughout this policy you and your means:

- 1. The named insured shown in the declaration.
- 2. The spouse if a resident of the same household.

We, us and our refer to the company providing this coverage.

Covered person - means:

- 1. You and your.
- 2. Family members.
- Any other person while using the covered car with the express permission of you or a family member.

Family member means:

- A person related to you or your spouse by blood, marriage, or adoption who lives with you.
- Includes your unmarried and unemancipated child while temporarily away at school.

(C.P., pp. 39-40).

Alfa filed the declaratory judgment action because the exclusion for liabilities to "covered persons" precludes coverage in this case. Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle's counter-claim includes counts for breach of contract, breach of implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing, fraudulent misrepresentation and/or omission, negligent misrepresentation and/or omission, unconsionability, and includes a demand for punitive damages. (C.P., pp. 82-91). The allegations within these counts appear to relate to the position taken by Alfa in the declaratory judgment action with respect to the liability coverage for Mrs. Hasselle's potential claim against Mr. Hasselle. However, the allegations do not specifically identify any facts or allege what conduct on the part of Alfa supports the claims asserted.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Alfa policy has an exclusion applicable to the liability coverage. This exclusion applies to claims made by "covered persons". "Covered persons" are defined to include both (1) named insureds and (2) family members living in the household with the named insured. Shirley Hasselle, who was struck by her husband, Thomas Hasselle, with the car he was driving is both a named insured and a family member living in his household. For that reason, any claims she may make against him are not covered by the liability portion of the policy.

The chancery court found that the public policy of this state overrides the clear and unambiguous language within the above referenced exclusion. In so finding, the court ignored case law from the Mississippi Supreme Court addressing this very issue. In *Thompson v. Mississippi Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, this Court upheld the family member exclusion reasoning that there is "no valid reason why insurance companies should not have the right, by contract, to avoid coverage for those in the family circle" 602 So.2d 855, 857 (Miss. 1992). This Court was not persuaded by the public policy argument raised by the dissenting opinion in *Thompson*. In this case, the chancery court's reasoning in support of its decision is essentially the same argument presented by the dissenting opinion in *Thompson*. Because the chancery court failed to follow the majority opinion in *Thompson*, which is binding Mississippi case law, this Court should reverse and render the order finding that liability coverage exists.

ARGUMENT

The clear and unambiguous language within Alfa's policy excludes the liability coverage for any claims made by Shirley Hasselle against her husband, Thomas Hasselle. The policy language quoted above states that "We do not provide Liability Coverage for . . . [a]ny bodily injury to any covered person" "Covered person" is defined to include "you", which in turn is defined to be the named insured shown in the declaration and the spouse of the named insured. "Covered person" is also defined to mean a "family member" which is defined to be any person related to the policyholder by blood, marriage or adoption who lives with the named insured.

Mrs. Hasselle is a "covered person" because she is one of the named insureds shown on the declarations and also because she is the spouse of the named insured. Mrs. Hasselle also falls within the definition of "covered person" because she is a "family member" as that term is defined in the policy.

The chancery court found that the subject policy provides liability coverage to Mr. Hasselle for any claims made against him by his wife. The chancery court's decision was not based upon its interpretation of the plain language within the policy. Rather, the chancery court found that "it is against public policy to exclude a person who could bring suit against an insured and recover" (R., p. 39). The chancery court referenced Mississippi's "Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility laws", which are embodied in Miss. Code Ann. § 63-15-43. The chancery court held that its interpretation of the policy was "in such a manner as to not conflict" with Miss. Code Ann. § 63-15-43 and the Mississippi Department of Insurance guidelines. The court does not identify any specific guidelines from the Mississippi Department of Insurance applicable to this case.

The reasoning made by the chancery court decision is contrary to holdings of the Mississippi Supreme Court interpreting **identical exclusions** in automobile liability policies. Affirming the chancery court's decision in this case would require a **reversal** of case law from the Mississippi Supreme Court spanning over forty (40) years.

The argument in favor of coverage which was made by Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle and adopted by the chancery court has already been considered and rejected by the Mississippi Supreme Court. See Thompson v. Mississippi Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 602 So.2d 855, 857 (Miss. 1992). In Thompson, the court was faced with an exclusion in an automobile liability policy "providing no liability coverage for injuries sustained by a family member." 602 So.2d at 856. The trial court granted summary judgment to the insurer finding that the exclusion applied and that there was no coverage. Id. The Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's holding. The Court observed that it had previously upheld a similar exclusion. Id. at 857 (citing Perry v. Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Ins. Co., 170 So.2d 628 (Miss. 1965)). The Court explained that

[t]here is no valid reason why insurance companies should not have the right, by contract, to avoid coverage for those in the family circle, who, on account of their close intimacy, may be expected to be riding at frequent intervals in the insured car.

Thompson, 602 So.2d at 857 (quoting Perry, 170 So.2d at 630).

Another court observed that the purpose of this type of exclusion is to "exempt the insurer from liability to one who would naturally and inevitably be partial to another because of the close filial ties which exist between members of the same *family circle* living in the same household." Southern Guaranty Ins. Co. v. Gipson, 156 So.2d 630, 632 (Ala. 1963). Stated another way, "the clear purpose of the exclusion was to protect the insurer from overfriendly lawsuits, which nearly always would exist where plaintiff and insured defendant are bound by ties of kinship and are living together." Orange v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 443 S.W. 2d 650 (Ken. 1969). See also Peninsula Ins. Co. v. Knight, 255 A.2d 55, 58 (Md. 1969)(holding that "purpose of the household exclusion is so obviously to protect the insurer against collusive or cozy claims, to exempt him from

liability stemming from one whose natural ties and pulls are likely to favor a claimant who lives in the same household, that the courts have unhesitatingly recognized that purpose and excluded from policy coverage claimants who live in the same household as the named insured").

The dissenting opinion in *Thompson* sets out an argument in favor of coverage which the chancery court adopted in this case. The dissenting opinion states that the enforcement of the family member exclusion "runs afoul of the public policies and legislative intent which underlie Mississippi's Safety Responsibility Act." *Thompson*, 602 So.2d at 863 (McRae, J., dissenting). Because the majority opinion in *Thompson* rejects the dissent's public policy argument, the chancery court committed reversible error in adopting the very same reasoning as the basis for ignoring Alfa's policy language. This Court should therefore reverse and render the chancery court's ruling and find that there is no coverage for the potential claim of Mrs. Hasselle against her husband, Mr. Hasselle.

CONCLUSION

Alfa requests that this Court reverse and render the chancery court's order finding that the Alfa policy provides liability coverage to Thomas Hasselle for any liability he may have in the future for claims made by his wife, Shirley Hasselle, against him resulting from the accident of July 26, 2005. The Court should find that there is no liability coverage under the subject policy. Also, because such a holding regarding liability coverage would appear to remove the basis for the counter-claim filed by Mr. and Mrs. Hasselle against Alfa, Alfa respectfully submits that this Court should also order that the chancery court should have dismissed the counter-claim with prejudice rather than continuing that matter to be tried at a later date.