#### ALFA INSURANCE CORPORATION

**APPELLANT** 

V.

CAUSE NO: 2007-IA-00029 & 2007-CA00037

THOMAS HASSELLE AND SHIRLEY HASSELLE

**APPELLEES** 

# **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

# **ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED**

Honorable Debra Halford Pike County Chancery Court Judge Post Office Box 578 Meadville, MS 39653

Angela T. Miller, MSB Miller & Miller & Miller Attorney for Appellees Post Office Box 1303
McComb, Mississippi 39649-1303

Toby J. Gammill Wilkins, Stephens & Tipton Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 13429 Jackson, MS 39236-3429

## ALFA INSURANCE CORPORATION

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO: 2007-IA-00029 & 2007-CA00037

THOMAS HASSELLE AND SHIRLEY HASSELLE

**APPELLEES**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the Alfa Insurance Corporation policy language, as written, regarding liability coverage is ambiguous - subject to more than one interpretation.

II. Whether the broad definition of "covered person" as found in the policy, combined with the exclusion from coverage of "any bodily injury to any covered person" renders the policy coverage void to the extent that it effectively nullifies coverage under the policy for classes of insured not included or considered as part of a "family member exclusion."

III. Whether a conflict exists between the purported exclusionary clause contained in the insurance policy and Mississippi Code Annotated § 63-15-43 such that allowing the clause to operate would be a contravention of the law as mandated by the legislature.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a denial of coverage under an automobile liability policy for bodily injury to an insured. Coverage was initially extended in writing to the insured under the liability portion of the policy, however, when the insured demanded additional compensation to which she was entitled, the appellant, Alfa Insurance Corporation, denied coverage altogether under the liability provision of the policy.

Alfa, then seeking to justify its decision not to pay the claim, afterward decided to invoke what it considers a "family member exclusion" in its policy to support the new position that the insured was excluded from coverage.

The nature of the proceeding below consisted of a petition for declaratory judgment filed nearly six months after the injury occurred. The chancellor denied summary judgment to Alfa, ruling in favor of coverage for Shirley Hasselle. Alfa takes exception to the chancellor's ruling and thus, appeals the judgment of the lower court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Thomas Hasselle and Shirley Hasselle, purchased their automobile and homeowners insurance coverage from Alfa Insurance Corporation for many years prior to ever having the necessity of making a claim for payment under their automobile liability policy.

The automobile liability policy coverage was 50/100/25 in effect at the time Thomas Hasselle, a seventy-three year old retired minister, accidently backed his Ford Explorer into his sixty-nine year old wife, Shirley Hasselle, severely injuring her.

Based on assurances by the Alfa agent that they were fully covered, Reverend Hasselle attended to the needs of his wife from July 26, 2005, the date of the accident, until October 2005. Hasselle was also caring for his handicapped adult daughter, whom his wife, a nurse, had cared for prior to her injury. During that period Hasselle diligently delivered his wife's medical bills to his local Alfa agent's office. By October, 2005, facing mounting medical bills and with Alfa not having paid even the \$5,000.00 in medical payments under the policy, Reverend Hasselle sought assistance in obtaining payment owed to his wife under their automobile insurance policy.

Reverend Hasselle had followed the advice of his agent, Curtis Seay, to bring all medical bills into his office. He was never advised of an exclusion in the policy for bodily injury to family members. The claim was neither promptly nor thoroughly investigated or adjusted by the

insurance company. The only investigation Hasselle recalls was one telephone call regarding the incident from an older man.

Defendants had not made an offer on the claim for any amount prior to October, 2005 when the attorney demanded the policy limits of \$50,000. Mrs. Hasselle's hospital bill alone was over \$21,000.00. Two months after the accident she was discharged home from the hospital by ambulance, confined to the bed, and later required extensive physical therapy to be able to walk again. Even now, she has tremendous difficulty from the injury. Medicare, which should have been a secondary provider, paid many of her medical bills.

Alfa unreasonably delayed payment of the medical coverage under the policy.

On October 20, 2005, by letter, an Alfa claims adjuster, Sean Oakley, offered payment of \$40,000.00 in full settlement of Mrs. Hasselle's claims under the liability provision of the policy, The Hasselles responded by letter requesting the limits of all applicable coverage, fully expecting that Alfa would reasonably offer the \$50,000 bodily injury liability limits plus the \$10,000 uninsured/ underinsured motorist coverage in view of the extensive damages suffered by Shirley Hasselle. Rather, Alfa responded with a denial of liability coverage.

In an attempt to create an appearance of having a reasonable basis on which to deny coverage, but actually to camouflage its willful misconduct in handling Mrs. Hasselle's claim, in December, 2005 Alfa filed a declaratory judgment action and interplead the uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage of \$10,000 and the remaining unpaid \$3523.75 medical payments.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

On July 26, 2005, Thomas accidentally backed into Shirley Hasselle while driving their 2000 Chevrolet Blazer, their insured vehicle, pinning her to the house and causing severe

injuries to both her legs. Shirley Hasselle's medical bills for a nine day stay in the hospital for and surgery on two broken legs exceeded \$21,000.00. She was confined to the bed for over two months, and had to learn to walk again. Prior to the accident Mrs. Hasselle was a very active 69 year-old woman who cared for her disabled daughter, her home and other family members. Now able to walk again, she still suffers psychological trauma from the accident..

The Hasselle's sought the assistance of an attorney on October 11, 2005. Shirley Hasselle demanded the \$50,000 per person bodily injury liability limit under the motor vehicle policy along with the \$10,000 under insured coverage. Alfa offered \$40,000; which, considering Mrs. Hasselle's injuries, was insufficient, then withdrew the offer and refused to make another offer, citing an exclusion in the policy.

One of the best arguments for ambiguity in the policy language lies in the fact that Alfa Insurance Company's own adjuster, if believed, made a mistake in interpreting the language authorizing liability coverage under the policy.

Furthermore, while Alfa claims to rely on a family member exclusion to deny coverage to Shirley Hasselle, the definition of excluded covered persons in this policy far exceeds the scope of what has previously been allowed by this court to operate as a family member exclusion.

Finally, the position taken by Alfa to exclude from liability coverage, covered family members, nullifies the effect of Mississippi Code Annotated § 63-15-43 and is contrary to the legislative intent of the Mississippi Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility laws.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Whether the Alfa Insurance Corporation policy language, as written, regarding liability coverage is ambiguous - subject to more than one interpretation.

Based on plaintiff's extensive damages, it was reasonable to offer the liability limits of \$50,000, the underinsured limits of \$10,000 and the \$5,000 medical coverage. However, even if the applicability of the liability coverage was legitimately contested, (which we submit that it was not), the obligation of Alfa to pay the uninsured/underinsured and medical payments

coverage

was never at issue. Yet, the interplead funds were not disbursed until after the declaratory judgment was entered a year later in December, 2006. Any delay in payment by Alfa of those uncontested coverages was designed to accomplish ends contrary to abiding by the terms of the policy, and constituted breach of the contract and breach of the implied covenants of good faith and fair dealing.

Using unreasonable interpretation in translating policy language, language that is contrary to the reasonable expectation of the insured should be strongly discouraged. The law of the state of Mississippi governing contracts applies to insurance contracts also.

"Our jurisprudence requires that the language in insurance contracts, especially exclusionary clauses, be construed strongly against the drafter." *Nationwide Mut. Ins.* 

Co. v. Garriga, 636 So.2d 658, 662 (Miss. 1994). "In addition, any ambiguities in an insurance contract must be construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured and a finding of coverage." Id. Burton v. Choctaw County, 730 So. 2d. 9, (Miss. 1997) states that "The goal of any insurance policy is to protect the insured by providing them coverage; however, a policy should be drafted to accommodate the average person who will give its terms a general reading. An insurance policy should be strictly construed against the insurer, and the insurer has the burden of phrasing the terms in clear language."

"We start with the basic principles involved in analyzing contracts between individuals and insurance companies. This state's law recognizes the general rule that provisions of an insurance contract are to be construed strongly against the drafter."

Williams v. Life Insurance Company of Georgia, 367 So.2d 922, 925 (Miss. 1979).

Any ambiguities in an insurance contract must be construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured and a finding of coverage. Government Employees Insurance

Company v. Brown, 446 So.2d 1002, 1006 (Miss. 1984) (hereinafter GEICO);

Monarch Insurance Company of Ohio v. Cook, 336 So.2d 738, 741 (Miss. 1976).

Insurance policies are contracts of adhesion, drafted unilaterally and as such, the consumer has no bargaining power. The insurance policy, if allowed to stand as defendants wish to interpret, it would be contrary to public policy and would constitute an unconscionable contract. Under the common law contracts contrary to public policy are unenforceable. *In re Koestler: Casualty Reciprocal Exchange v.*Federal Insurance Company, 608 So.2d 128, 1262 (Miss. 1992).

East Ford v. Taylor, 826 So.2d 709 (Miss. 2002) uses the law of contracts to analyze an arbitration provision in a contract. The Court insists that ordinary state law principles should apply in determining the legal constraints on arbitration. Those legal principles considered by the Mississippi Supreme Court included theories of fraud, unconscionability, and lack of consideration. Quoting a federal district court case, the Court examined both procedural and substantive unconscionability, Pridgen v. Green Tree Financial Servicing Corporation, 88 F Supp 2d.655 (S.D. Miss. 2000), the Court stated that procedural unconscionability may be proved by showing "a lack of knowledge, lack of voluntariness, inconspicuous print, the use of complex legalistic language, disparity in sophistication or bargaining power. The provisions in question in the insurance contract herein are certainly written in complex legalistic language. Reverend Hasselle has no legal training and up to this point was not aware that insurance policies contained "family member exclusions" or any other exclusion of liability for covered persons. Alfa's policy reads as follows:

"Covered Person----means:

- 1. You and your.
- 2. Family members.
- 3. Any other person while using the covered car with the express permission of you or a family member.
- 4. Under Part A, any person or organization legally responsible for the use of the covered car by covered persons as defined under the Three subsections above.

5. Under Part D, any person while occupying your covered car." (Record page 39)

Then the exclusion applies to,: "9. Any bodily injury to any covered person." (Record page 42).

The language in the policy seeks to designate for some categories of covered persons, which covered persons are covered by Part A (liability coverage) and which are covered by Part D (uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage), specifically designating under which parts of the policy that those persons listed in items 4, and 5 are covered, but fails to designate under which Part of the policy the persons listed in items numbered 1, 2, and 3 are covered.

In a fair reading of the policy it is not possible to interpret whether the policy intends for persons listed in the first three categories to be covered by Part A, Part D or both. As an insured, the interpretation would surely be that coverage existed under both provisions.

Even in Part D 1.where the policy defines "uninsured car" it says nothing about a car owned by covered person under the policy. In fact, farther down on page 19 of the policy, Part D specifically states that "An uninsured car does not include any land motor vehicle: 1. Insured under the liability coverage of this policy; 2. Furnished for the frequent or regular use of you, your spouse, or any family member;"(record page 47)

These statements contradict the company's interpretation of the policy and reflect the ambiguity of the policy, illustrating the fact that the adjuster, Sean Oakley,

merely made a reasonable interpretation of the policy language, no doubt an interpretation that he had made numerous times before in adjusting this same language and on which he had based payment to the insured.

II. Whether the broad definition of "covered person" as found in the policy, combined with the exclusion from coverage of "any bodily injury to any covered person" renders the policy coverage void to the extent that it effectively nullifies coverage under the policy for classes of insured not included or considered as part of a "family member exclusion."

All contracts contain an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and there should be no incentive to profit from the wrongful denial of claims. This state's Supreme Court has held that an insured shall receive full benefit for what he pays.

Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. Bridges, 350 So.2d 1379, 1381 (Miss. 1977). In Hartford, this Court noted that there is persuasion to the argument that if an insured has paid for coverage, accordingly he should be entitled to it, "limited only by the amount of damages which may be judicially determined."

Furthermore, implicit in the contract is a duty to deal fairly with the insured which includes a duty to disclose policy terms to the insureds and not to cloak the policy provisions in impenetrable language contrived to confuse. Allowing Alfa to evade its obligation to pay the Hasselle's claim creates the incentive to distort the meaning of the clear language in its contract.

III. Whether a conflict exists between the purported exclusionary clause contained in the insurance policy and Mississippi Code Annotated § 63-15-43

such that allowing the clause to operate would be a contravention of the law as mandated by the legislature.

Insurance contracts are construed to conform to the state law which they purport to satisfy. The policy in question purports to satisfy the requirements of § 63-15-43 Mississippi Code Annotated which makes automobile insurance mandatory. The objective of the statute is to ensure that there is coverage to cover damages in an accident. Alfa mailed cards with the policy instructing the Hasselles' to keep the cards in the vehicle as proof of coverage. However, when Mrs. Hasselle was injured there was no coverage for her injuries according to Alfa. This is in direct contravention to the requirements under the statute and constitutes a negligent misrepresentation on the part of Alfa. The statute reads, "Such owner's policy of liability insurance: shall pay on behalf of the insured named therein... all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay as damages arising out of the ownership by him..."

Intentional loss is already excluded\_from the contract such that there is no necessity to maintain the extraordinarily oppressive family exclusion.

Alfa takes the plain meaning of the terms in the policy and distorts them to attempting to justify a denial of liability coverage. The definition of covered person in the policy is "You and your family members any other covered person while using the covered car with the express permission of you or a family member."

The liability exclusion upon which Alfa relies in this case states, "We do not provide liability coverage for any bodily injury to any covered person.

It is understandable that Alfa did not rely on this provision in the first instance and made an offer under the liability provision in the policy. This is not a "family member exclusion" as Alfa claims, but a broad and extreme exclusion of all coverage of any person riding in the covered vehicle which would give the policy no effect at all. However, Alfa simply wants to use that language to arbitrarily exclude whomever it chooses, whenever it chooses.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Thomas Hasselle and Shirley Hasselle request that this honorable court affirm the ruling of the Chancery Court's Order finding that Shirley Hasselle is not excluded from coverage under the bodily injury liability provisions this policy.

This the / day of September, 2007.